Appellate Case No. 2013-001412

HSBC Bank USA,, National Association, As Trustee of MLCC 2007-2,
Respondent,

v.

S. Russell Fielden, Deborah M. Fielden, Coastal States Bank, Defendants

Coastal States Bank, Cross-Claim Plaintiff

v.

S. Russell Fielden and Deborah M. Fielden, Cross Claim Defendants,

Of whom S. Russell Fielden and Deborah M. Fielden are the Appellants..

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF and DESIGNATION OF MATTER TO BE
INCLUDED IN THE RECORD ON APPEAL**

RECEIVED
SEP 09 2013
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Master In Equity

Marvin H. Dukes III, Master In Equity For Beaufort County

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Whether the Trial Court erred by granting summary judgment when the evidence presented shows the Respondent failed to establish it was the real party in interest and the legal holder of the note and mortgage at the time they filed their complaint.
2. Whether the Trial Court erred by granting summary judgment when the evidence provided shows the Respondent failed to establish they received legal transfer and delivery of the Appellant's note from the prior holder.
3. Whether the Trial Court erred by granting summary judgment when the evidence provided shows the Respondent failed to provide the Appellant with written notice of acceleration, the "Notice of Foreclosure" the Appellant received did not meet the strict requirements of paragraph 22 of the mortgage, and did not meet all conditions precedent for the Respondent to file the lawsuit.
4. Whether the Trial Court, based on the evidence, erred in denying the Appellant's "Motion To Dismiss" and "Counter Claim", thereby allowing the case to continue causing damages and harm to the Appellant.

Standard Of Review

On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court. *David v. McLeod Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 626 S.E.2d 1 (2006). A trial court may properly grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRCPP; *Pittman v. Grand Strand Entm't, Inc.*, 363 S.C. 531, 611 S.E.2d 922 (2005). The appellate court, like the trial court, must view all ambiguities, conclusions, and all inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Osborne v. Adams*, 346 S.C. 4, 550 S.E.2d 319 (2001).

Additionally, "[a] legal question in an equity case receives review as in law." *Sloan v. Greenville County*, 356 S.C. 531, 546, 590 S.E.2d 338, 346 (Ct. App. 2003). Because questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court, this court may correct errors of law in both legal and equitable actions. *l'On, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 14-8-200 (Supp. 1998)).

Statement of the Case

The use of (R) denotes where the Appellant intends to refer to the “Record Of Appeal” in their final brief.

This appeal is taken from the BEAUFORT COUNTY Court of Master In Equity Court’s decision to render “Summary Final Judgment” against the Appellant, the Court’s subsequent decision to rule against the Appellant’s “Motion To Reconsider”, and sell the property at a Master’s Sale.

The nature of the case was Respondent’s (HSBC BANK USA, National Association, as Trustee for MLCC 2007-2) Complaint to foreclose on the residential real property owned and occupied by the Appellants (S. Russell Fielden and Deborah M. Fielden). (R)

The Appellants were informed in the foreclosure complaint that the Respondent Trust claimed ownership of their loan. (R) The Appellants had never heard of HSBC Bank. After diligently investigating the Respondent’s “MLCC 2007-2” Trust documents on file with the Securities And Exchange Commission (SEC), the Appellants could not determine if their loan was part of the loan pool for the Respondent’s Trust. There were conflicting claim of ownership. The Appellant’s had recently been informed by mail from the original servicer of the loan, PHH Mortgage, that Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation still owned their loan. PHH Mortgage had also informed the Appellants that “Wells Fargo” was the “Investor” on the loan. (R).

Based on information provided by the PHH Mortgage, as servicer, the Appellants decided to defend the foreclosure action. Their defense was based on the Respondent's failure to provide them with proper legal foreclosure notice, the Respondent's lack of standing as the true party in interest prior to filing the foreclosure complaint, their lack of standing to currently enforce the note or mortgage as legal owner or holder, and their slander of title of the property.

On February 18, 2013, a hearing on the Respondent's Motion for Summary Final Judgment was held. The Court ruled in favor of the Respondent. The Final Summary Judgment includes reference to both a Respondent's "MERS Assignment" of the note and mortgage created after the date of the foreclosure complaint, and a copy of a non-validated "Endorsement In Blank" the Respondent created and produced over a year later in discovery. (R). A subsequent "Motion To Reconsider" was filed by the Appellant. (R). A hearing on the "Motion To Reconsider" was held on April 15, 2013 and the Court ruled against the Appellant. (R).

A sale date of the property was scheduled by the Court. The Respondent was the sole bidder on the property at the initial Master's Sale. Since a deficiency judgment was demanded, bidding was to remain open for 30 days, at which time a final Master's Sale would be held for other bidders to purchase the property at a higher price. Prior to the final sale, and prior to a receipt of a Master's Deed, the Respondent trespassed on to the property,

changed the locks, removed personal belongings of the Appellants, put the utilities in another name and put the property on the market for sale, including posting the property on the local Multiple Listing Service. The Appellants notified the Master's office of this action. The Respondent was the final bidder at the final deficiency sale two weeks later and subsequently received a Master's Deed.

Coastal States Bank was a Cross-Claim Plaintiff in the case as holder of a second mortgage on the Appellant's same property. Coastal States Bank also filed for foreclosure on the property claiming non-payment on the first mortgage jeopardized their position. Their "Motion For Summary Judgment" was heard at the same trial noted above and the Court ruled against the motion following testimony by both the Appellant and a Coastal States Bank representative confirming the fact that the Appellants had kept all payments on the Coastal States Bank second mortgage current to date.

The Defendants Russell & Deborah Fielden filed a "Notice Of Appeal" on June 12, 2013. (R).

Defendants Counsel of record, William Sloan Esq., James Scheider Esq., and Roberts Vaux Esq. were relieved as counsel for the defendants by Order of The South Carolina Court Of Appeals on August 8, 2013.

Facts

1. Some Parties had dual roles in the case;

- a. Coastal States Bank, Cross-Claim Plaintiff, holds a second mortgage on the subject property in the amount of approximately \$380,000 and was also the Original Lender for the first mortgage loan which is the subject of this action. Coastal States Bank represented they conveyed the first mortgage loan to Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation at the initial closing of the loan. (R).
- b. PHH Mortgage was the Servicer for Merrill Lynch Credit Corp, and to whom the Appellants have always made payments. PHH Mortgage is also alleged to be the Servicer for the loans which were placed in the Respondent's securitized Trust in 2007 per the Trust's "Pooling And Servicing Agreement" (PSA) on file with the SEC. However, the PSA was never ratified to establish a servicing agreement between the Trust and PHH Mortgage. (R)

2. The facts of the case are presented in chronological order;

- a) **May 17, 2006 – The note and mortgage are ratified.** The underlying subject Mortgage was signed by Appellants, S. Russell and Deborah M. Fielden as the borrower and the mortgage states that Coastal States Bank is the Lender. Coastal States Bank drafted, and

had signed, a special endorsement in the form of an “Allonge” dated the day of closing on the loan (May 17, 2006) with Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation as the “Payee”. (R). The Appellants made all of their mortgage payments to PHH Mortgage as servicer for Merrill Lynch after the closing of the loan.

b) November 19, 2007 – A second mortgage is executed.

The Appellants and Coastal States Bank (the original lender on the first mortgage) entered into an agreement to modify an existing line of credit and sign a second mortgage on the subject property in the approximate amount of \$400,000. The Appellant used most of the funds to make improvements to the subject property. The Appellants kept this second mortgage current during the entire contested foreclosure proceedings on the first mortgage. (R).

c) January 2009 – Appellants apply for a Loan

Modification for the subject first mortgage.

The Appellants contacted PHH Mortgage, who they thought was still the servicer for Merrill Lynch Credit Corp, early in 2009 in an effort to secure a loan modification to allow them to make lower monthly payments. Negotiations lasted for over a year while they were being passed to agent after agent and required to send in duplicate financial information numerous times. The Appellants finally stopped making mortgage payments in hopes the servicer would see the need to secure

a loan modification. PHH Mortgage denied the Appellants a loan modification. (R)

d) February 22, 2010 – Appellants receive a “Notice of Foreclosure”.

The Appellants received a “Notice Of Foreclosure” from PHH Mortgage on Merrill Lynch Letterhead. (R).

e) June 14, 2010 – Respondent’s Foreclosure Complaint was served on the Appellants.

The Respondent filed its complaint to foreclose the subject mortgage and served the Appellants. (R). The Complaint had attached a copy of the Adjustable Rate Note which identified Coastal States Bank as the original lender. (R). The copy of the note was bare with respect to the presence of any endorsements or assignments conveying the note to any other entity beyond Coastal States Bank.

f) August 13, 2010 – The Respondent prepared and filed a “MERS Assignment” of the note and mortgage.

After the date of the foreclosure complaint, with the assistance of their counsel, the Respondent had a “note and mortgage assignment” (from MERS to the Respondent) prepared and recorded in the Beaufort County Register Of Deeds. (R). This assignment is still on record with Beaufort County.

g) The Appellants investigated the Trust Documents.

After being served the foreclosure complaint from a bank the Appellants had never heard of, the Appellants learned the Respondent was a Trustee of a New York Trust. The Appellants investigated the Trust documents to see if there was any evidence their loan had been made a part of the Respondent's Trust. They found no such evidence. Since the Appellants had been recently informed by PHH Mortgage that Merrill Lynch Corporation still held their note and mortgage, they felt compelled to contest the foreclosure action by the Respondent.

h) November 24, 2010 - The Appellant filed an "Answer and Counterclaim".

An "Answer and Counterclaim" to the Complaint was filed by the Appellant's counsel William H. Sloan , Esq. which included several equitable defenses. (R).

Argument

1. The Respondent did not give the Appellant legal “Notice Of Foreclosure”

- a) **The “Notice Of Foreclosure” the Appellants received was not originated or legally authorized by the Respondent.**

The “Notice Of Foreclosure” the Appellant received by mail was from PHH Mortgage on Merrill Lynch Letterhead with no mention of the Respondent, the Trust “MLCC 2007-2”, did not contain any authorization by the Respondent to allow PHH Mortgage to mail the foreclosure notice on their behalf. (R). Once the Appellants received the “Notice Of Foreclosure”, the Appellants assumed that Merrill Lynch was preparing to foreclose on the property. In the lower court, Judge Dukes seemed to agree the notice came from Merrill Lynch and not the Respondent. When Judge Dukes looked at the “Notice Of Foreclosure” he stated on record “it appears to be from Merrill Lynch”. (R).

- b) **The “Notice Of Foreclosure” does not match the requirements in paragraph 22 of the Appellant’s Mortgage.**

The “Notice Of Foreclosure” the Appellant received includes an additional statement that states the Appellants “have a right to bring a court action to assert the nonexistence of a default”. This would require an affirmative action

by the Appellant, and if acted upon, would have created a financial burden on the Appellant. This statement is not in the Appellant's mortgage. This argument was raised by the Appellant's counsel at trial and in the Appellant's "Motion To Reconsider" as the notice failed to comply with the Mortgage, and therefore did not meet the condition precedent needed to give the Appellant proper notice.

(R). In a case before the Circuit Court for Broward County Florida, the language in paragraph 22 of the mortgage and the "Notice of Foreclosure" conflict was identical to the issue in the Appellant's case. Bank Of America NA. Versus Tyron Casey and Margarita Casey. CASE NO.: CACE12003317. The Court stated "*In the most fundamental sense there is a world of difference between having to bring a court action to assert the non existence of a default or any other defense to acceleration and the right to assert in the foreclosure proceeding the non existence of a default or any other defense to acceleration. The former requires affirmative action on the part of the borrower to file a complaint, which almost all are ill equipped to do, or pay an attorney to do so. It also requires the payment of a filing fee at a time when the borrower is least capable of doing so. It is significantly different from taking no action, waiting until the foreclosure proceeding is filed and then asserting why acceleration is not correct or specifying other defenses. To equate the two is to ignore both the terms of plaintiff's mortgage and the economic burden of the substituted language.*" The Court ruled the notice was invalid and stated "*The court does not believe that it should rewrite the parties agreement to permit or to accept the notice that was provided.*"

c) The original servicer represented Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation still owned the Appellants note and mortgage after the Respondent's Trust was formed.

Representation by the Servicer.

PHH Mortgage, acting as servicer for Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation on the first mortgage, accepted all payments the Appellant made during the first years of the loan. They did not notify the Appellant of any change in ownership of the note or mortgage. The Appellant testified at trial they made a request to PHH Mortgage in 2009, during their loan modification request period, for PHH Mortgage to send them proof of ownership of the note and mortgage. The appellant testified at trial that PHH Mortgage, in response to their request, sent them a copy of the note and mortgage and a copy of an "Allonge" in the form of a special endorsement, dated the day of the original loan closing, from Coastal States Bank to Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation. The documentation PHH Mortgage sent to the Appellant, two years after the Respondent's Trust was formed, was void of any information showing any change of ownership of the Appellants loan beyond Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation. (R). This was a clear misrepresentation if the loan had been conveyed to the Respondent's Trust two years earlier in 2007.

d) The Respondent filed a “Limited Power Of Attorney” almost two years after the date of the foreclosure action in an attempt to validate the “Notice Of Foreclosure”.

The Respondent’s counsel represented at trial that the “Notice Of Foreclosure” was presented on behalf of the Respondent by their purported servicer PHH Mortgage under a “Limited Power Of Attorney”. (R) However, the “Limited Power Of Attorney” the Respondent’s counsel referred to is dated April 6, 2012, two years after the “Notice Of Foreclosure” was mailed to the Appellants. (R).

2. The Respondent was not the legal owner or holder of Appellant’s Note and Mortgage prior to the date of their foreclosure action.

a) The Respondent failed to provide evidence of a transfer or delivery of the Appellant’s note and mortgage to the Respondent prior to their foreclosure complaint.

The Respondent contends that its standing to foreclose derives from possession of the Note and Mortgage and an endorsement of the note. The Respondent failed to show evidence that the Trustee received physical delivery of the Note and Mortgage and or the endorsement prior to the inception of the lawsuit. PHH Mortgage as servicer for Merrill Lynch was in possession of the Note and Mortgage during the first year of the loan. The

Respondent did not offer any evidence to prove that the Note and Mortgage was delivered to them by PHH Mortgage, who according to the Respondent's counsel, always held the original note and mortgage. The original note and mortgage should have been delivered to the Trustee or their Custodian (which was the Chief Administrator / Master Servicer of the Trust, and not the Servicer, as required by the Trust Documents). There was also no evidence shown that PHH Mortgage had the authorization to act as servicer for the Respondent's Trust other than a "Power of Attorney" that was produced by the Respondent over two years after the foreclosure complaint. The Trust documents were never ratified as needed to give PHH Mortgage the legal ability to act as Servicer for the Respondent Trust. Only the owner of both the note and mortgage at the time of the commencement of the action may seek the remedy of foreclosure. Where a plaintiff is the assignee of the mortgage and the underlying note at the time the foreclosure action was commenced, the plaintiff has standing to maintain the action.

"[F]oreclosure of a mortgage may not be brought by one who has no title to it and absent transfer of the debt, the assignment of the mortgage is a nullity." The Appellate Division, First Department, citing Kluge v Fugazy (Katz v East-Ville Realty Co., 249 AD2d 243, 672 N.Y.S.2d 308 [1st Dept 1998]) instructed that "[p] Defendant's attempt to foreclose upon a mortgage in which he had no legal or equitable interest was without fact."

For the Respondent to be entitled to summary judgment, it must show, without genuine issue of material fact, that it was the legal holder of the note

on the date the complaint was filed. The Respondent was acting as a trustee in the foreclosure action for an entity not named in either the Appellant's mortgage or note. The note and mortgage on the property, which is the subject of this action, shows the Payee to be a Lender other than the Respondent.

The complaint alleged that the Respondent is the owner and holder of the note and mortgage. The complaint failed to plead a single material fact substantiating that the Respondent, prior to filing its lawsuit, acquired the subject note and mortgage through an equitable or physical transfer. The complaint had attached, a copy of the Adjustable Rate Note, which identified Coastal States Bank as the lender. (R). The copy of the Note was bare with respect to the presence of an endorsement. (R).(The record's evidence is insufficient to demonstrate the Plaintiff had standing to foreclose at the time the lawsuit was filed.... See U.S. Bank Nat'l Ass'n v. Kimball, 27 A.3d 1087 (Vt. 2011) (bank that filed a foreclosure complaint against a homeowner did not show that, at the time it filed the complaint, the bank possessed the original promissory note either made payable to bearer with a blank endorsement or made payable to order with an endorsement specifically to the bank; although the bank ultimately submitted the promissory note with an undated specific endorsement to the bank, the bank provided no information as to when such endorsement was made).. Without an interest in the promissory note, or without evidence of authority to

enforce the promissory note against Appellant, Respondent had no standing to foreclose and summary judgment was improper).

The Respondent created an undated, unverified "Endorsement In Blank" and produced it in discovery two years after they filed the foreclosure action. The non-validated copy of an endorsement did not establish the Respondent had the right to enforce the note when it filed suit.

3. The Respondent did not provide sufficient evidence they are the legal holder or owner of the Appellant's Note and Mortgage.

a) No Respondent's Trust Documents were offered as evidence by the Respondent to prove ownership of the Appellant's Note and Mortgage.

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