THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

FEB 10 2014

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2013-001412

HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as  
Trustee for MLCC 2007-2 .....Respondent,

vs.

S. Russell Fielden; Deborah M. Fielden; and Coastal States  
Bank.....Defendants,

Of whom

S. Russell Fielden and Deborah M. Fielden, are..... Appellants.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT**

---

Charles S. Gwynne Jr. (SC Bar # 73844)  
Erica G. Lybrand (SC Bar # 79052)  
Rogers Townsend & Thomas, PC  
220 Executive Center Drive (29210)  
Post Office Box 100200

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Several issues raised on appeal were not preserved for appellate review.**

Appellants failed to preserve several of the issues raised in their appeal for review by this Court. “It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved.” *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564-65, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). “If the losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appellate review.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000); *see also* Rule 59(e), SCRPC. This preservation requirement “prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve—intentionally or by chance—in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” *Id.*

The following issues raised in Appellant’s brief were not properly raised or ruled upon by the lower court and are, therefore, not preserved for appellate review:

- The Respondent filed a “Limited Power of Attorney” almost two years after the date of the foreclosure action in an attempt to validate the “Notice of the Foreclosure” (Appellants’ Br. P. 14);
- The Respondent did not receive the Appellant’s Mortgage Payments prior to filing their foreclosure (Appellants’ Br. P. 27)

- The Lower Court’s decision to deny the Appellant’s “Counter Claim” and “Motion to Dismiss” affected the marketability of the Appellants property (including subparts) (Appellants’ Br. P. 31-34).

**II. Appellant abandoned several of the issues raised in their appeal by failing to cite any authority in support of them.**

Appellants abandoned several of the issues raised in their appeal by failing to cite any authority in support of them. When an appellant fails to cite any supporting authority for his or her position and makes only conclusory arguments, the appellant abandons the issue on appeal. *Bennett v. Investors Title Ins. Co.*, 370 S.C. 578, 599, 635 S.E.2d 649, 660 (Ct. App. 2006).

Appellants cite no authorities in support of the following arguments and has thereby abandoned these issues:

- The “Notice of Foreclosure” the Appellants received was not originated or legally authorized by the Respondent (Appellants’ Br. p. 11);
- The original servicer represented Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation (sic) still owned the Appellants note and mortgage after the Respondent’s Trust was formed (Appellants’ Br. P. 13);
- The Respondent filed a “Limited Power of Attorney” almost two years after the date of the foreclosure action in an attempt to validate the “Notice of the Foreclosure” (Appellants’ Br. P. 14);
- No Respondent’s (sic) Trust Documents were offered as evidence by the Respondent to prove ownership of the Appellant’s Note and Mortgage (Appellants’ Br. P. 17);
- The Respondent failed to provide sufficient evidence they had the right to enforce the Appellant’s note and mortgage (Appellants’ Br. P. 20);
- The Lower Court erred in using the Respondent’s copy of an undated and unverified “Endorsement in Blank” prepared by purported servicer to support summary judgment in favor of the respondent (Appellants’ Br. P. 21);
- There is evidence of numerous conflicting ownership claims of the Appellant’s note and mortgage (Appellants’ Br. P. 24);
- The Respondent’s late copy of an “Endorsement in Blank” by Merrill Lynch Corporation was invalid and conveyed nothing (Appellants’ Br. P. 25);
- The Respondent did not receive the Appellant’s Mortgage Payments prior to filing their foreclosure (Appellants’ Br. P. 27);

- The Lower Court erred when it ignored the fact that the Respondent’s “MERS Assignment” was created, filed and recorded after the date of their complaint, and erred when it used the same assignment to support the Court’s summary judgment (Appellants’ Br. P. 28);
- PHH Mortgage provided the Respondent’s counsel with the original note and mortgage but had no servicer authorization from the Respondent (Appellants’ Br. P. 30);
- The Lower Court’s decision to deny the Appellant’s “Counter Claim” and “Motion to Dismiss” affected the marketability of the Appellants property (including subparts) (Appellants’ Br. P. 31-34).

As a result of the above-described waiver, the Master’s Foreclosure Judgment cannot be reversed on the basis of any of these issues.

**III. Respondent was the holder of the original Note and, therefore, had standing to enforce the Note.**

Respondent was the holder of the original Note and, therefore, had standing to enforce the Note. Negotiable instruments, which include promissory notes, are governed by Article 3 of the Uniform Commercial Code (“UCC”), codified in South Carolina as Title 36, Chapter 3 of the *South Carolina Code*. See *S.C. Code Ann.* § 36-3-101, *et seq.* Section 36-3-301 of UCC sets out specific provisions with regard to the enforcement of a negotiable instrument:

“Person entitled to enforce” an instrument means (i) the holder of the instrument, (ii) a nonholder in possession of the instrument who has the rights of a holder, or (iii) a person not in possession of the instrument who is entitled to enforce the instrument pursuant to Section 36-3-309 or 36-3-418(d). A person may be a person entitled to enforce the instrument even though the person is not the owner of the instrument or is in wrongful possession of the instrument.<sup>1</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> SC. Code Ann. § 36-3-309 deals with the enforcement of instruments which have been lost, destroyed, or stolen, and S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-418(d) deals with circumstances where an instrument has been paid or accepted by mistake and the payor or acceptor recovers payment or revokes acceptance. Neither of those sections applies here.

A “holder” is a person or entity “who is in possession of a document or title or an instrument or a certificated investment security drawn, issued, or indorsed to him or to his order or to bearer or in blank.” *S.C. Code Ann.* § 36-1-201(20). A note initially made payable “to order” can become a bearer instrument, if it is endorsed in blank. See *S.C. Code Ann.* 36-3-109(c) (providing that an instrument payable to an identified person may become payable to bearer if it is indorsed in blank); See also *S.C. Code Ann.* 36-3-205(b) (describing what qualifies as a blank endorsement). “When indorsed in blank, an instrument becomes payable to bearer and may be negotiated by transfer of possession alone[.]” *S.C. Code Ann.* § 36-3-205(b). Further, possession of a bearer instrument [note] is *prima facie* evidence of ownership of the instrument. In re *Woodberry*, 383 B.R. 373, 377 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2008).

In this case, Respondent was in possession of the original Note with two allonges attached thereto. “An allonge is a ‘paper annexed to a negotiable instrument, for endorsements too numerous or lengthy to be contained in the original.’” *Id.* at 375. The first allonge to the subject Note contained an endorsement to Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation by the original lender CoastalStates Bank. The second allonge contained a blank endorsement by Merrill Lynch Credit Corporation. Under South Carolina law, an allonge to a note containing a blank endorsement stating “pay to the order of without recourse,” converts the promissory note to a bearer instrument. *Id.* at 375-77. Thus, the Note is payable to bearer and may be negotiated by transfer alone. *S.C. Code Ann.* § 36-3-203. Because the Respondent had possession of the original Note endorsed in blank, Respondent was the holder of the Note at the time of the foreclosure and had the power to enforce the Note under the *South Carolina Commercial Code*. § 36-3-301.

Even if the allonges to the Note were invalid or otherwise not enforceable, Respondent would still have had standing to enforce the Note. A negotiable note can be transferred without being negotiated or endorsed to the transferee, and that transfer would be effectuated by the physical delivery of the note. *S.C. Code Ann.* § 36-3-203. In that circumstance, the transferee would not be a holder. However, such a transferee would still have the right to enforce the note:

Transfer of an instrument, whether or not the transfer is a negotiation, vests in the transferee any right of the transferor to enforce the instrument...  
§ 36-3-203(b).

Appellants challenge the above-described legal standard on the basis that PHH Mortgage Corporation (“PHH”), the servicer for the Respondent, may have actually transmitted the original Note to the Respondent’s attorneys for use in the foreclosure proceeding and that PHH sent the Notice of Intention to Foreclose. As servicer of the subject mortgage loan, PHH was the party responsible for collecting payments, managing the payment history, and managing the foreclosure proceeding to ensure that the Respondent’s attorneys had all required and necessary information to properly prosecute the foreclosure. Also as Respondent’s servicer, PHH arranged to have the original Note transferred into the possession of the attorneys to ensure that the attorneys could, in fact, demonstrate that Respondent held the Note. The role of a mortgage servicer in a foreclosure proceeding has been previously addressed and accepted by courts in South Carolina. See generally *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 746 S.E.2d 478 (Ct. App. 2013). The fact that Respondent’s mortgage servicer was involved in the transmission of the original Note to Respondent’s attorneys and the communication

regarding the intention to foreclose and/or accelerate does not affect Respondent's standing in this matter.

In sum, Respondent had possession of the original Note at the time of the foreclosure filing and, as a result, Respondent was entitled to enforce the Note and therefore had standing to prosecute the foreclosure.

**IV. Assignments of mortgage are not transfer documents, convey no right or interest in the note or loan, and are a nullity as to the issue of standing.**

Assignments of mortgage are not transfer documents, convey no right or interest in the note or loan, and are a nullity as to the issue of standing. The recording of an assignment of mortgage gives notice to third parties regarding the new holder of the debt, but it does not transfer the debt itself. See *S.C. Code Ann.* § 30-7-30 and § 30-7-40. Further, an assignment does not even have to be recorded, and failure to record an assignment of mortgage does not affect the rights of an assignee. *BAC Home Loan Servicing, L.P. v. Kinder*, 398 S.C. 619, 623-24, 731 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2012), reh'g denied (Sept. 6, 2012). South Carolina law “does not require both possession of the note and a written assignment of the mortgage to prove ownership...” *In re Woodberry*, 383 B.R. 373, 376 (Bankr. D.S.C. 2008) “South Carolina recognizes the ‘familiar and uncontroverted proposition’ that ‘the assignment of a note secured by a mortgage carries with it an assignment of the mortgage.’” *Midfirst Bank, SSB v. C.W. Haynes & Co., Inc.*, 893 F. Supp. 1304, 1318 (D.S.C. 1994)(citing *Hahn v. Smith*, 157 S.C. 157, 154 S.E. 112 (1930); *Ballou v. Young*. 42 S.C. 170, 20 S.E. 84 (1894)). “The assignment of a mortgage as distinct from the debt it secures is nugatory and confers no rights upon the

transferee. . . .” *South Carolina Nat'l Bank v. Halter*, 293 S.C. 121, 128, 359 S.E.2d 74, 77 (Ct.App.1987) (citing *Hahn*, 157 S.C. 157, 154 S.E. 112). Therefore, enforcement of a note in South Carolina does not require the plaintiff to have a written assignment of the mortgage. *Woodberry*, 383 B.R. at 377.

Here, the Appellants claim that the Respondent lacked standing to bring a foreclosure action by attacking the validity of the written assignments of the mortgage. However, according to the great weight of the authority in South Carolina, assignments of mortgage are irrelevant to standing. See *Woodberry*, 383 B.R. at 377. Respondent possessed the original Note, with an allonge endorsed in blank, which secures the subject Mortgage. As the owner of the Note, Respondent was also the owner of the Mortgage. The assignment of the mortgage is not a document of transfer and is recorded only for the benefit of third party creditors or other interested parties. Respondent need not demonstrate a valid written assignment of the Mortgage to prove its ownership because it holds the Note. Therefore, the validity of an assignment of mortgage cannot affect Respondent’s standing to enforce the Note and Mortgage in the underlying action.

**V. Appellants’ arguments regarding the “Notice of Intention to Foreclose” are moot.**

Appellant’s arguments regarding the “Notice of Intention to Foreclose” are moot.

Our Courts have previously held that:

[a] case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [the] existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for [the] reviewing Court to grant effectual relief.

*Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep't*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). In the case at bar, Appellants argue that Respondent did not properly provide Appellant notice of his rights regarding defense of the foreclosure action because the notice language did not exactly match the language of Paragraph Twenty-Two (22) of the Mortgage. The distinction that Appellants draw is that the Notice of Intention to Foreclose provides that Appellants have “a right to bring a court action to assert the nonexistence of default...” as opposed to the language of the Mortgage which requires notice that the borrower has “the right to assert *in the foreclosure proceeding* the non-existence of a default...” (emphasis added). Appellants’ argument is that the language in the Notice of Intention to Foreclose placed a greater burden on the Appellants and could mislead them into assuming the only way to assert a defense to the foreclosure was to bring their own legal action.

Appellants’ arguments are moot for two reasons: (1) Appellant admits to the default of the mortgage, and (2) Appellant did defend the foreclosure action based upon his alleged defenses to the foreclosure in the foreclosure proceeding and was not prevented or dissuaded from doing so pursuant to the language in the “Notice of Intention to Foreclose.” If this court was to reverse the Master in Equity’s Order and remand on this issue, there would be no effective relief as the Appellants have already had the full and fair opportunity to defend the foreclosure and plead their case. Further, the Appellants admitted their default, both in the underlying action and in their Brief (Appellant’s Br. P. 8-9), so they would now be estopped from asserting the non-existence of the default in the underlying action. Therefore, this court can have no practical legal effect upon the existing controversy in relation to this issue and the matter is now moot.

**VI. Even if the arguments regarding the “Notice of Intention to Foreclose” are not moot, the notice was sufficient pursuant to the terms of the Mortgage.**

Even if the arguments regarding the “Notice of Intention to Foreclose” are not moot, the notice was sufficient pursuant to the terms of the Mortgage. Paragraph Twenty-Two (22) of the subject Mortgage reads as follows:

22. Acceleration; Remedies. Lender shall give notice to Borrower prior to acceleration following Borrower’s breach of any covenant or agreement in this Security Instrument...The notice shall specify: (a) the default; (b) the action required to cure the default; (c) a date, not less than 30 days from the date the notice is given to Borrower, by which the default must be cured; and (d) that failure to cure the default on or before the date specified in the notice may result in acceleration of the sums secured by this Security Instrument, foreclosure by judicial proceeding and sale of the Property. The notice shall further inform Borrower of the right to reinstate after acceleration and the right to assert in the foreclosure proceeding the non-existence of a default or any other defense of Borrower to acceleration and foreclosure...

According to this provision in the mortgage, the mortgagee or holder of the debt must include the following items in a notice of intent to foreclose or accelerate:

- (1) That a default event has occurred;
- (2) The actions required to cure the default;
- (3) The date by which the actions to cure must have occurred to prevent foreclosure / acceleration;
- (4) That failure to cure will result in acceleration, foreclosure, and judicial sale of the property;
- (5) That there is a right to reinstate after acceleration; and
- (6) That the borrower has a right to assert the non-existence of default or other defenses in the foreclosure proceeding.

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